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EMMANUEL BAPTIST ChLURCE, 279 Lafayette Avenue, Xorough of Brooklymn.
1887: architect Francis H. Kimball.

Landmark Site:. Borough of Brooklyn Tax MMap Block 1632, Lot 42W.

On February 8, 1966. the Landmarks Preservation Commission held
a public hearing on the proposed designation as a Landmark of the
Emmanuel Baptist Church and the proposed designation of the related
Landmari Site. (Item No. 61). The hearing had been duly advertised
in accordance with the provisions of law. Three witnesses spoke in
favor of designation. There were no speakers in opposition to
designation. The Commission has been informed that the Corporate
Body of the Emmanuel Baptist Church has voted in favor of the
proposed designation.

DESCRIPTICN AND ANALYSIS

Emmanuel Eaptist Church, with its square twin towers, resemtles
a small French cathedral. This imposing structure, monumental in
appearance, was inspired by Romenesque and early Gothic prototypes.
It occupies a corner lot, and ite two richly decorated principal
elevations are fully visible from a distance and can be appreciated
to the full. The somber and stolid character of this late Hineteenti
Century stone edifice is relieved by a varied and fanciful use of
carved ornament and structural forms, creating an ocutstanding
example of ecclesiastical architecture.

The Church was organized in 1881, and its construction program
was completed in three stages. Before the Chapel was finished in
1883, early services were held in the nearby Ad:zliphi Academy Chapel.
The Church, sited North ard South on the property with its entrance
facing South on Lafayette Avenue, was dedicated in 1887. The MNew
Church School Building adjacent to and west of the front entrance
was dedicated in 1827,

The impressive front clevation is skillfully orgamized. The
twin towers which flark the center section have massive stepped
buttresses at the corners, which recede as they rise and terminatc
at the solid parapet walls which crown the towers. Vertically, the
towers are divided into five sections, each separated by a band
course. The base is plain. The second and third scctions each have
two round arched windows. The fourth secticn has & colonnade of
arches supported on short columns. Scparated by clustercd shafts,
the belfry has three high; narrow arches with two windows placed one
above each cother within them. Corbelling enriches the cornice below
the parapet wall.

Four dominant elements make up the center section of the front
elevation. - Three arched and pedimented pcrtals comprise the main
entrance at the base. A huge pointed-arch window is centered in the
middle section above the decors =2nd & low arcade, with pediment above
it, crowns the front. Twoc engaged columns, which rest on corbels at
the spring line of the arch of the windcw, rise up to the arcade and
ancher the ends of the gable. The triple portal is majestic in scal
and quality. Each double doorway is flanked by paired banded column:
with handsome capitals. The wooden doors have superb curvilinear
strap hinges. The tympanum over the centrel doorway contains a
beautiful bas-relief cf Christ blessing the children. Carved bands
decorate the arches over the doorways, and the gables eabove them arc
crowned with large carved finiels. The four stained glass windows,
in the large arch zbove the doors, are scparated by Gothic shafts
which support two arches with round windows above them. They, in
turn, support a largoer rose window and two small round windows with
trefoils all bound together by stone tracery. In the diapered
surface of the gable crowning the btuilding is a bas-relief of John
the Raptist. Crockets decorate the coping of the pediment, and it
is crowned by a large finial.
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The east elevation c¢f the Church, anchored between the square
tower at the South andéd the Chapel at the ilerth, has five windows.
Separating the windows are largc stepped buttresses whick are
stepped back as they rise and terminate just below the parapet wall,
under the eave of tho stceply pitched rcof. ESuperbly carved gar-
goyles project out frow the tops of the buttresses. Between the
buttresses the windows are separated by a center column and are
flanked by columns. They arc each surmounted by a small rcse windcw
in the upper part cf the arch and are crowned bty a large gable with
finial.

The Chapel, now known as the Emmanuel Christian Center, is
lccated ¢on St. Jercs Place at the northeasterly extremity of the
property. The three-story former Chapel flanked by a tower and
turrets is nore reminicscent cf 2 chateau than a cathedral., With ite
free use ¢f Bomanescue and Gothic forms and details it is decidedly
Victorian Gothic in character. This striking facade is dominated by
a very larpge pointed-arch window centered in a high gabled wall.

The window arch rising abcove an ornamented tend coursec at the second
flocr, contains five narrow stained glass windows =2t sccond floor
level, a2 corbelled band course and the mein window filling the upper
portion of the arch, has traccry of unusual quality. At street
level, the decrway, placed left of center, ic deeply recessed in a
pointed arch. Here double dcoors, with leaded transcm above, are
flanked by paeirecd and engagcd columns. At the right of the doorway
and centercd in the smooth faced sendstone is a2 triple windcw with
pointed arches and leaded sash, between engaged cclumns, alsc deeply
recessed. A naorrow platform with three steps leads up to the door.

The New Church School Building adjoining the front to the west
is a dignified two and one-half story structure dedicated in 1927.
Solidly cconstructed of smooth faced stone laid up in random ashlar,
it blends very well ir character with the mzin Church. The entrance
is set back in the corner of a square forocourt, retained by a low
wall at the sidewalk. The doorway, sheltered Ly a steeply pitched
rocf covering a stoutly built porch, adds & quaint note of medieval
character of the building. On the second fleocr ¢f the wing abutting
the street, is a triple window set in a gatle ornemented with

crockets and an attractive finial. It is & very handsome feature
silhouetted against the slate coverecd roof.

The Landmarks Prescrvaticn Commission reccgnizes that the
Landmark cn the property in quection (and the Landmark Site) is
wholly used for relizious and directly related charitable purposes
by Emnmarnuel Baptist Cliurch and that the neceds of the Emnmanuel
Baptist Church for such usc¢cs may change in the years ahcad, en-
tailing altcerations in the existing structures or the creaticn cf
other gtructurcs on the Landmark Site. PRy this designation of the
Landmark above described and the Landmark Site on which it is lo-
cated, it ies ncet intended to freeze the struciture in its present
state or to prevent future a2pprovricte alteraticns needed to meet
changed requircments cf use feor rceligicus and directly related
charitable purpesces. The Commissicn bulieves it has the cobligation
and, indeed, it hzs the desire to ccoperate with owners of Landmarks
who may wish tc¢ make changes in their properties. In this connec-
tion the Commissicn wishes to state at this time that it recognizes
that the Emumanuel Baptist Church may want to erect new buildings on
its grcunds in the future. The Ccmmissicn reccognizes that the
Emmanuel Baptist Church nmay alse wish to make exterior altcecrations
to its existing btuildires. The Commissicn lecks forward to working
vwith the reproescrtatives c¢f the Emmanuel Eaptist Church when the
Church desires to erect new buildings ¢n its grounds or to make
exterior alteraticons on its existing buildings.



wBa

FINDINGS AND DESIGNATIONS

On the basis ¢f a2 carcful consideration c¢f the histcry, the
architecture and cther fecatures ¢f this building, the Landmarks
Preservation Ccocmumissicn finds that the Enmanuel Baptist Church hes
a special character, special histcrical and acsthetic interest and
value as pert cf the developnent, heritage and cultural character-
istics of dew York City.

The Commissicn further finds that, among its important qualities,
the Emmanuel Baptist Church is an outstanding example c¢f ecclesias-
tical architecture derived from Roranesque and Gothic prototypes,
thet with its impressive twin towers it rescmbles a small French
cathedral, that in the massing of its structural features it is mon-
umantal in appearance and distirnguishaed in character znd that it
lends great architectural prestige and dignity to the comnunity,

Accordingly, pursuant tc the provisicng cf Chapter 63 of the
Charter of the City of MNcw York and Chapter 8-A of the Administrative
Code of the City c¢f Ncw Yerk, the Landmarks Preservation Commission
designates as a Landmark the Emmanuel Beptist Church; 279 Lafayette
Avenue. Berough of Rrooklyn and designates Tax Map Block 1932, Lot
42vi, Borough cof Brcoklyn as its Landrark Site.



